
   

 
 

 

Nottingham City Council 

Greater Nottingham Light Rapid Transit Advisory Committee 

 
Date: Tuesday, 25 October 2022 
 
Time:  2.00 pm 
 
Place: Ground Floor Committee Room - Loxley House, Station Street, Nottingham, 

NG2 3NG 
 
Councillors are requested to attend the above meeting to transact the following 
business 
 

 
Director for Legal and Governance 
 
Governance Officer: Catherine Ziane-Pryor     Direct Dial: 0115 8764298 
 

   
1  Apologies for Absence  

 
 

2  Declarations of Interests  
 

 

3  Minutes  
Minutes of the meeting held on 12 July 2022, for confirmation. 
 

3 - 8 

4  NET Operational Performance and Progress Update  
Report of the Head of Operations, Nottingham Trams 
 

9 - 14 

5  Safeguarding on the Network Annual Review 2022  
Report of Head of Operations, Nottingham Trams 
 

15 - 16 

6  Tramlink Update  
Verbal update from the Chief Operating Officer, Tramlink Nottingham 
 

 

7  Issues Raised by Committee Members and Citizens  
 

 

a   Correspondence from a citizen  
 

17 - 40 

8  Work Plan 2022/23  
To agree items for future agenda. 
 

41 - 42 

9  Exclusion of the public  
To consider excluding the public from the meeting during consideration 
of the remaining item in accordance with Section 100A of the Local 

 

Public Document Pack



Government Act 1972, under Schedule 12A, Part 1, on the basis that, 
having regard to all the circumstances, the public interest in maintaining 
an exemption outweighs the public interest in disclosing the information. 
 

10  Exempt minutes  
Of the meeting held on 12 July 2022 (for confirmation). 
 

43 - 46 

 

If you need any advice on declaring an interest in any item on the agenda, please contact 
the Governance Officer shown above, if possible before the day of the meeting  
 

Citizens are advised that this meeting may be recorded by members of the public. Any 
recording or reporting on this meeting should take place in accordance with the Council’s 
policy on recording and reporting on public meetings, which is available at 
www.nottinghamcity.gov.uk. Individuals intending to record the meeting are asked to notify 
the Governance Officer shown above in advance.



1 

Nottingham City Council  
 
Greater Nottingham Light Rapid Transit Advisory Committee 
 
Minutes of the meeting held at Ground Floor Committee Room - Loxley House, 
Station Street, Nottingham, NG2 3NG on 12 July 2022 from 2.00 pm - 3.48 pm 
 
Membership 
Nottingham City Council 

 Councillor Sam Gardner 
 Councillor Rosemary Healy 
 Councillor Adele Williams 
 Councillor Audra Wynter 
 Councillor Angharad Roberts (Substitute for Councillor Healy) 
  
Nottinghamshire County Council 

 Councillor Jim Creamer 
 Councillor Eric Kerry 
 Councillo John Ogle 
 Councillor Francis Purdue-Horan 
 Councillor Gordon Wheeler 
  
NET User Representatives 

 Roger Bacon – Travelwatch East Midlands  
 Helen Hemstock – Ridewise 
 Chris Roy – Nottingham Trent University 
 Lorraine Salt-Pulford – Nottingham City Disability Involvement Group 
 Jim Thomas – Nottinghamshire Better Transport 
 
Colleagues, partners and others in attendance:  
 
Andrew Holdstock - Senior NET Project Engineer, Nottingham City Council 
Trevor Stocker - Operations Manager, Nottingham Trams 
Kate Morris - Governance Officer, Nottingham City Council 
 
1  Appointment of Chair 

 
Resolved to appoint Councillor Audra Wynter as Chair of this Committee for 
the municipal year (May 2022 to April 2023)  
 
2  Appointment of Vice Chair 

 
Resolved to appoint Councillor John Ogle as Vice-Chair of this Committee for 
this municipal year (May 2022 – April 2023)  
 
3  Confirmation of Membership 

 
The Committee noted the current membership. 

Page 3

Agenda Item 3



Greater Nottingham Light Rapid Transit Advisory Committee - 12.07.22 

2 

 
4  Apologies for Absence 

 
Councillor Rosemary Healy – On Leave (sent substitute)  
 
Justin Donne – Nottingham Federation of Small Businesses 
Helen Hemstock  - Ridewise 
Chris Roy – Nottingham Trent University 
Jim Thomas – Nottinghamshire Better Transport 
 
Andrew Conroy – Chief Operating Officer, Tramlink Nottingham 
 
5  Declarations of Interests 

 
None 
 
6  Minutes 

 
The Committee confirmed the minutes of the meeting held on 15 March 2022 as a 
correct record and they were signed by the Chair of that meeting.  
 
7  NET Operational Performance and Progress Update 

 
Trevor Stocker, Head of Operations for Nottingham Trams introduced the NET 
Operational Performance and Progress update covering February to May 2022 to the 
Committee. He highlighted the following information:  
 

(a) Following the further easing of restrictions passenger number are increasing 
again. There has been a particular uptick in passengers traveling for social 
and leisure reasons;  
 

(b) Along with the increase in passengers, there is also an increase in anti-social 
behaviour. Work continues to take place with Nottinghamshire Police and 
CCTV footage of captured incidents is being used to progress investigations;  
 

(c) There has been an increase in incidents of vandalism and damage to network 
property. In particular the newly installed ticket vending machines have been 
targeted, which is disappointing. Tram windows have also been the target for 
damage;  
 

(d) Both uniformed and non-uniformed Police patrol the network at various times 
of day to discourage anti-social behaviour. 
 

(e) Annual track renewal is due to take place from Wednesday 27 July to 8 
August at Hyson Green Market. No trams will run between Wilkinson Street 
and The Forest, but a full bus replacement service will be scheduled and staff 
will be on hand to assist. These works may add a couple of minutes to 
journeys;  
 

(f) At the beginning of April a multi-operator contactless payment system was 
successfully launched. This enables customers to touch on with their mobile 
devices and the app calculates the cheapest fare for their journey. This works 

Page 4



Greater Nottingham Light Rapid Transit Advisory Committee - 12.07.22 

3 

across the Tram network, Nottingham City Transport, and C4N busses. It is 
the first multi Operator, contactless payment system outside of London; 
 

(g) A network wide fare evasion campaign has been running since March, 
highlighting the importance of ensuring all passengers pay for using the 
network. With the support of Nottinghamshire Police fines of up to £70 have 
been issued;  
 

(h) NET have been involved and supported the Consent Coalition Safety of 
Women at Night project including a wrapped tram in a bid to prompt 
discussion around issues of consent;  
 

Committee members asked a number of questions and made comments, the 
following information was highlighted:  
 

(i) Anti-social behaviour on the network is not an issue that can be addressed by 
Nottingham Trams alone. Work alongside the Police, youth services, and 
outreach all offer support. A number of outreach events take place across the 
Network to build relationships and provide alternative options for young 
people;  
 

(j) All reports of anti-social behaviour across the Network are monitored. Some 
are not as obvious as others, such as groups loitering, which in itself is not 
ASB but can develop into it. NET staff liaise with Police who are on patrol and 
where an incident escalates CCTV footage can be used for speedy 
identification; 
 

(k) Following incidents that disrupt the network significantly there is a review 
looking at lessons that can be learned in order to improve response in the 
future. There was recently a Police incident at Old Market Square that 
disrupted tram services. This incident has not been detailed in the published 
report as it falls outside the February to May time period. Trams were turned to 
try and keep services running where possible. Further feedback will be bought 
to the next committee meeting, including an assessment of NET response; 
 

(l) The engineering works taking place at the end of July coincide with 2 key 
events. The first event is Nottingham Pride celebrations. In previous years, 
Tram services have been halted for a short period to allow the parade to safely 
cross the tracks. As the event has grown trams will now be turned at the 
station and at the Royal Centre for about an hour which will ensure safety of 
the parade and continuation of services. The second event is the Riverside 
Festival. Services have been increased on the Friday and Saturday to facilitate 
attendance;  
 

(m)The Station and the Royal Centre are places where the trams can be turned. It 
is not possible to turn them closer to the Square for the Pride parade. Other 
measures will also be in place as they were during the Forest celebration 
event to ensure safety and security;  
 

(n) The report mentions phasing out signage encouraging mask wearing on the 
Network. This is taking place in line with government guidelines, which have 
been followed throughout the pandemic. Signage and the language used has 

Page 5



Greater Nottingham Light Rapid Transit Advisory Committee - 12.07.22 

4 

been updated regularly throughout the pandemic to comply with government 
advice. Some Committee members questioned whether this was the right 
course of action considering the nationally increasing numbers of Covid cases.  
 

(o) Committee members highlighted that with an increase in “crowd” type events 
the likelihood of spread of Covid-19 was higher, especially via public transport 
networks and with the onset of flu season in autumn there is likely to be a 
resurgence of cases. Some Committee members expressed the strong view 
that continuing to support mask wearing should be encouraged in order to 
protect citizens and the infrastructure of the City. 
 

(p) Committee members asked that NET seek legal and public health advice 
around signage changes before making alterations and for a specific agenda 
item updating the committee be bought to the next meeting; 
 

(q) Reliability and punctuality performance is well within target at 96.1% and 
93.9% respectively. 
 

The Committee thanked Trevor Stocker for his update and noted the content of the 
report.  
 
8  Tramlink Update 

 
Andrew Conroy had submitted apologies and so no verbal update was available to 
the committee.  
 
Committee members requested a written update be circulated relating to the last 
period and that a written report be provided to the committee along with other papers 
going forward.  
 
9  Issues Raised by Committee Members and Citizens 

 
Andrew Holdstock, NET Project, Nottingham City Council indicated that there were 
two issues raised for consideration. 
 
The first issue was around young people congregating in cars in the Toton Lane 
area. The following points were highlighted during discussion:  
 

(a)  NET met with the citizen, and the Police in early July to discuss the matter 
outlined in the published report. Following this meeting, Police increased 
patrols in the area and CCTV footage was monitored in a bid to identify vehicle 
owners.  
 

(b) Registered keepers of vehicles have been identified where registration plates 
of the vehicles are visible on CCTV and fines have been issued sending a 
strong message to the group that anti-social behaviour will not be tolerated; 
 

(c) On some of the reported occasions the CCTV footage has not captured 
anything and so slight changes were made to the positioning of CCTV 
cameras; 
 

Page 6



Greater Nottingham Light Rapid Transit Advisory Committee - 12.07.22 

5 

(d) Communication has been strengthened between the Police and the Tram 
network and a further meeting has been arranged between parties for 
September to monitor the situation and to assess further action;  
 

(e) Dealing with anti-social behaviour when it becomes criminal is a role for the 
police. The citizen had reported to both the Police and to the Tram network 
and once incident numbers had been matched up across the two 
organisations it was possible to review CCTV footage; 
 

(f) There was some initial talk of a Dispersal Order for the area, but to move to 
this step there would need to be a history of multiple fines in the area. The 
Network will continue to liaise with the Police and pass CCTV evidence over 
so that it can be progressed accordingly;  
 

(g) Police have targeted patrols in the area to times when incidents are more 
likely to happen. Engagement work is taking place with the young drivers to 
educate them around safety and alternative options; 
 

(h) The reporting citizen is happy with the actions being taken, and the progress 
that has been seen. There is a plan of action in place, strengthened 
communication between the Network and Police and reports of anti-social 
behaviour are being collated;  
 

(i) Committee members agreed that cooperation between the Network and the 
Police had been good, and thanked Trevor for the work to tackle this issue. 
 

The second issue raised was around mobility scooters blocking wheelchair bays and 
as a consequence of moving, blocking access to the tram for wheelchair users. The 
following points were highlighted in discussion: 
 

(j) Mobility scooters are less manoeuvrable and when they move  out of the 
wheelchair bays it takes time, this is delaying wheelchair users boarding the 
tram and there have been instances where the tram leaves before the 
wheelchair user can board, separate designated entrances for mobility 
scooters and wheelchair users was requested;  
 

(a)  A briefing to tram drivers will be produced to ensure they are aware of the 
issue and ensure that they leave a little extra time when wheelchairs are 
boarding. Trevor Stocker informed the Committee that the Help button is 
available at all tram stops, allowing users to speak directly to the control room 
who can then advise the driver that additional time may be given for boarding. 
In addition to this, help points are available on-board trams, to enable 
customers to speak directly to the driver for assistance when needed; 
 

(b) Separate entrances for different mobility aids is not likely to be a workable 
solution, as there are a wide range of mobility aids requiring different 
considerations;   
 

(c) Committee members asked that consultation with users take place to consider 
a workable and practical solution, designated bays on the floor of trams were 
considered too;  
 

Page 7



Greater Nottingham Light Rapid Transit Advisory Committee - 12.07.22 

6 

(n) Committee members requested an update following consultation on what 
actions can be taken to improve user experience and a full report be bought to 
the September committee.  

 
10  Work Plan 

 
The committee considered the work programme presented in the published papers.  
 
Members asked a number of questions and the following points were highlighted in 
discussion:  
 

(a) An annual maintenance programme detailing major track renewals is 
submitted to the City Council and large pieces of planned work are 
communicated through the committee. NET attend the safety advisory group 
and liaise with partners and organisations around large events that may affect 
the network services. However not all repairs can be planned to avoid large 
events, as the works are often reliant on contractors and availability of 
specialist equipment. Minimising disruption to citizens and to the city is always 
a key consideration; 
 

(b) Trevor Stocker is happy to facilitate a visit to the depot for Committee 
members where they can tour the facility and see the behind the scenes 
operation of the Network..  

 
11  Future Meeting Dates 

 
Resolved to meet on the following Tuesdays at 2pm: 
13 September 2022 
13 December 2022 
14 March 2022  
 
12  Exclusion of the Public 

 
The Committee  decided to exclude the public from the meeting during consideration 
of this/ the remaining agenda item(s) in accordance with Section 100A(4) of the Local 
Government Act 1972 on the basis that, having regard to all the circumstances, the 
public interest in maintaining the exemption outweighed the public interest in 
disclosing the information, as defined in Paragraph(s) 1 and 2  of Part 1 of Schedule 
12A to the Act. 
 
13  Issues raised by Committee Members and Citizens 

 
Trevor Stocker, Head of Operations for Nottingham Trams summarised the details of 
the last commincation brought to the Committee. The Committee carefully considered 
the information provided, and discussed the matter, giving their conclusuions as 
detailed in the exempt minutes.  
  
 

Page 8



 

 
 

Agenda Item 

GNLRT ADVISORY COMMITTEE 

25th October 2022 

 

NET OPERATIONAL PERFORMANCE AND PROGRESS UPDATE 

1. SUMMARY OF ISSUES 

1. This report updates the Committee on the performance and progress of NET from the 

beginning of June 2022 to the end of September 2022. 

2. RECOMMENDATION 

2.1    It is RECOMMENDED that the Committee notes the report. 

3. OPERATIONAL PERFORMANCE 

3.1 Reliability and punctuality of the tram service during the 4-month period from the 

beginning of June 2022 to the end of September 2022 was 93.1% and 88.5% 

respectively. This has been a challenging period due to the unprecedentedly high 

temperatures in July which had an impact on the performance of all rail-based transport 

operators. Various temporary speed restrictions were introduced across the tram 

network to ensure that the system continued to operate safely during and following this 

period which had an impact on service performance. Further to this there have been 

issues with tram availability, which were impacted by supply chain issues. This created 

a backlog of maintenance work and a temporary reduced timetable was operated from 

22nd to the 26th August that enabed a regular and reliable service to be maintained for 

customers. Tram availability has returned to more regular levels during September. 

 

3.2 During the period some tram services have been affected by tram driver availability, 

where by employees have not been able to attend work through actute illness or as they 

await treatment for various longer-term conditions. A small increase in Covid cases was 

also noted, in line with national trends, at the beginning of the period and absenteeism 

is continuing to be monitored. 

 
3.3 There have been no changes to Government Guidance on Covid 19 variants that impact 

public transport, and guidance for face coverings on board public transport has been 

withdrawn completely. As a result, all remaining on board signage has been phased out. 

 
3.4 Track renewals, to replace worn rail at Hyson Green Market, were  successfully 

undertaken  between 27th July and 7th August.  A replacement bus service operated 

between Wilkinson Street and The Forest during the period of the works. 

 
3.5 An enhanced timetable was operated during the Goose Fair, which took place over a  

10-day period for the first time.  The Fair is, traditionally, the highest patronage event of 

the year for the tram network. 

 

Page 9

Agenda Item 4



 

 
 

3.6 Two parades have taken place in the city centre, which have crossed the tram tracks 

and hence resulted in some disruption to services.  These were the Nottingham Pride 

Parade, on Saturday 30th July, and the Mercian Regiment Freedom of the City Parade, 

on Thursday 29th September.  In both cases, the deployment of hostile vehicle mitigation 

measures added significantly to the delays experienced by tram users. 

 

4. TRAM DERAILMENT 

 
4.1 At 0715 on 30th September the driver of tram 219 reported that the tram had derailed 

over points HVP 3 at Highbury Vale junction. The tram was in passenger service but no 

passengers were on board and no injuries were sustained. To keep customers moving 

in a busy Friday morning peak time tram services on the south operated to Wilkinson 

Street and on the north, we operated two shuttles. One between Phoenix Park and 

Highbury Vale branch and one between David Lane and Hucknall, using degraded mode 

procedures. Cross ticket acceptance was in place for customers on the Yellow Line NCT 

service and on EMR services throughout this disruption. We continued with this 

approach whilst investigations into the cause were carried out. Late in the afternoon we 

were able to carry out repairs and tram 219 was recovered back to the depot. Allowing 

services to resume on the mainline from about 1930. We continued with the shuttle 

service at Phoenix Park due to points testing. Once these were completed on the 

Saturday morning, network operations were able to return to normal. 

  

5. POLICE INCIDENT 

 

5.1 On Friday 17th June, NET Control was contacted by the Police to alert us that an incident 

on board a moving tram in the City Centre had been reported to them. Shortly after 1540 

the Police stopped the tram at the Old Market Square to investigate but found no offence 

had been committed (check). The tram was under Police Control and not allowed to 

move at this point. As NET Control were unaware of the time required for the Police to 

carry out necessary checks, trams were initially trams were held across the network.. 

After approximately 10 mintues services resumed with trams turning either side of this 

incident at Royal Centre and Nottingham Station to enable customers, where possible 

to complete their journeys. The Police investigation was further delayed by public 

disorder at Old Market Square. At 16:23 the Police released the tram and services were 

allowed to continue as normal. Due to the nature of this Police incident it was not 

possible to take any alternative actions. 

 

5.2 Close liaison, information sharing and joint operations with the Police continue to have 

a positive impact on reducing incidents of anti-social behaviour across the network, 

although the issue remains a significant concern. Operation Reacher policing teams 

have been performing coordinated patrols both in uniform and plain clothes across a 

significantly increased part of our network. In addition to this we met with the City Council 

Neighbourhood Action Team in early July to explore options of working together. 

 

 

  

Page 10



 

 
 

6. IMPROVING NETWORK SAFETY 

 

6.1 Working closely with key suppliers, NET has become one of the first tram networks to 

adopt a system that constantly monitors tram speed and automatically intervenes in an 

emergency. 

6.2 The first tram to be fitted with the equipment has now entered full passenger service 

after extensive testing by the operator, Alstom and Efacec. The remainder of the 37-

strong fleet are also set to be retrofitted with the system over the next 18 months. The 

new overspeed device constantly monitors tram speed in relation to the speed limits on 

the section of the network it is operating, alerting drivers with both visual and audible 

warnings if the tram is operating outside acceptable parameters. 

 

6.3 The tram simulator has been upgraded to replicate this new technology with has been 

used to train all NET qualified tram drivers before driving in passenger service with the 

modifications. Should the driver become incapacitated for any reason, or fail to act on 

the alarms, the brakes are automatically activated to bring the tram to a safe stop. 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Page 11



 

 
 

7. PARKING ISSUES AT THE FOREST 

 

7.1 The Forest Pand Ride site has 972 parking spaces, including disabled parking bays, 

parent & child parking and electric car charging bays.   

 

7.2 There are two main issues for tram customers using this P&R facility. There has been 

an increase in customers parking unsafely outside designated bays and secondly an 

increase in vehicles being left at this location overnight. We need to ensure maximum 

capacity for tram customers using this facility. 

 

7.3 NET proposes to implement an approved (in line with the IPC code of conduct) 3-stage 

plan: 

i) Introduce new signage to The Forest P&R site clearly setting out the rules for 

the site; 

ii)  Following installation of the new signage, the next step would be planned, 

dedicated and hi visibility patrols, issuing Warning Notices where required. For 

infringement of byelaws detected on patrol, a 1st warning would be issued. This 

warning would detail the infringement issue and give a warning to the vehicle 

owner, vehicle details would be recorded and checked; 

iii) If a warned vehicle was found to be in further infringement of a byelaw the 

vehicle would then be clamped or removed where required. 

 

7.4 Parking enforcement will cover 24-hours - removal of a wheel clamp, which would cost 

£140. If a vehicle is removed from the site, recovery of the vehicle would cost £200 with 

an additional £35 per day storage charge. 

 

7.5 NET will donate 5% of revenue from successful clamp / towing payments to charitable 

causes.  This will be used to support charities that assist NET in making the tramway 

safer for everyone. 

 

8. TICKET VENDING MACHINE UPGRADES, CONTACTLESS PAYMENT & FARE   

CHANGES 

8.1   For the return of students to Nottingham significant deals have been in place to 

encourage students to purchase season tickets, with engagement with Univerisities and 

colleges at freshers fairs. 

8.2  In August there were price increases to Robin Hood multi operator ticket options in line 

with other operators. 

9. PARTNERSHIP WORKING AND COMMUNITY ENGAGEMENT 

9.1 NET have been working closely with The Pythian Club to develop a new presentation 

for schools to highlight to children being safe on and around the tramway but also the 

safety features that are in place to help them. We are planning on rolling these 

presentation sessions out during the Autumn Term. 

9.2 NET engineers stepped in to help when Crich Tramway Village was forced to suspend 

operations and shut down many of its attractions due to corrosion found on masts 

supporting overhead lines. Now the vital infrastructure has been replaced with 

equipment donated by NET, the museum has been able to welcome back visitors over 

the summer. 

Page 12



 

 
 

 
 
 
9.3  As the dark nights draw in and the temperatures drop, Nottingham Trams’ Commercial 

Manager Chris Williams will be joining volunteers and supporters of the charity 

Framework for a ‘Big Sleep Out’ at Nottingham Racecourse. The event on Saturday, 

October 15 also aims to raise money for Framework, a charity that supports the 

homeless in Nottinghamshire and has plans to build 200 new homes over the next five 

years. In the run up to event we’ve donated several thousand pounds worth of free 

advertising to help promote the fundraiser, including  an eye-catching tram ‘wrap’. 

 

9.4 Children from Beeston Fields Primary & Nursery School were given special access to 

one of Nottingham’s NET trams to film a video that will be shown at the Flying High Trust 

Awards event at the Motorpoint Arena in July. Tramlink reserved a stationary Tram to 

be available at the Toton Lane stop and for the children and members of their multi-

academy trust team to film the video. Tramlink are also one of the sponsors the massive 

event which will see 30 schools from Nottinghamshire and Derbyshire come together for 

the glittering awards, with schools performing music and dance pieces on stage or in the 

audience. 

 

 

 

Page 13



 

 
 

9.5  In September, NET attended a  multi-agency safety zone at Holme Pierpont to talk to 

school children about using the Tram netwrok safely. Schools from across the city 

attended reaching out to hundreds of children over the two week period. 

9.6  For the second time in three years, NET has scooped one of the top accolades at the 

annual light rail ‘Oscars’. During a gala event in London on October 5th, the network was 

once again hailed as the Most Improved System by judges at the Global Light Rail 

Awards.  The award, which NET last won in 2019, recognises a raft of initiatives over 

the past 12 months, including partnerships with the police and community groups to help 

tackle anti-social behaviour. The operator of the system has also tested new speed 

management and driver vigilance technologies.  On the night, Tram Technical Manager 

Laura Bartram was also highly commended in the Rising Star category, while NET was 

named as a finalist in the Technical Innovation (Rolling Stock) category.  

 

 

Trevor Stocker, Head of Operations, Nottingham Trams 

 

Page 14



 

Agenda Item 

 

GNLRT ADVISORY COMMITTEE 

 
25th October 2022 

 

 
SAFEGUARDING OF VULNERABLE PEOPLE ON THE NETWORK 
 

1. NET has a policy to ensure effective measures are in place to protect vulnerable people 

using the network. This policy is briefed and trained to all customer-facing roles, 

including Travel Officers, Drivers and Network Controllers. 

 
2. The policy conforms to the following legal and other requirements: 

The management of Health and Safety at Work Regulations 1999, ISO45001:2018 

Clause 4.2, 6.1, 7.4.3, 8, 8.2 and 10.2. 

Keolis lifesaving rules: 

 Challenge unsafe behaviour 

 Be alert and aware 

 Take personal responsibility 

 
3. The policy sets out the actions that a member of staff should adopt if they come across 

a vulnerable person whilst at work and to report the matter immediately to control room 

staff by providing the following information: 

 

 The call is related to a suspected vulnerable person 

 The location of the vulnerable person 

 Description of the person 

 Direction of travel 

 Why they believe this person may come to harm 

 
4. The policy defines the action to be taken by a member of staff that come across the 

following vulnerable persons: 

 

 Customers with disabilities 

 Youths and juveniles 

 Elderly 

 Visitors to the city 

 Lone passengers or those on the last trams 

 Passengers or persons on or around the Network appear under the influence of 

drugs and/or alcohol 

 Sleeping Passengers 

 Passengers confused or suffering from dementia 

 Suicidal persons 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 15

Agenda Item 5



 

5. Safety of Women at Night (SWaN) project 

 

The Safety of Women at Night project was led by the Consent Coalition and the Office of 
the Police and Crime Commissioner to address vulnerability of persons within a night-time 
economy setting. The dramatic increase nationally in reported drink ‘spikings’ was an 
influencing factor in this project’s conception together with other vulnerability issues. NET 
were key contributors to this project which has brought about the following: 

 

 A vulnerability training package for all staff so they can recognise the signs of 
vulnerability within a night time economy environment and the be able to take 
effective action to reduce any risks. This training package will be introduced to all 
new starters and will be included in ongoing developmental training for all current 
staff. 

 

 Trams are now recognised at a ‘safe place’ where vulnerable persons can escape 
to in the event of concerns for their safety. 

 

 A fully wrapped ‘Consent Coalition’ tram operates on the tram network, delivering 
a message that that NET is committed to providing safety for all who travel on our 
network. 

 
6. All incidents are reviewed by a member of the NET control team and, where necessary, 

by the QHSE department. All incidents are discussed at the weekly management review 

meeting. In addition, any reported incident is reviewed at the monthly incident review 

panel attended by senior managers to track for trends and hotspots, results from this 

meeting (where necessary) are also shared with members of the Transport Hub. 

 

 

Trevor Stocker 

Head of Operations 

Nottingham Trams 

Page 16



 

 
 

Agenda Item 

GNLRT ADVISORY COMMITTEE 

25th October 2022 

CORRESPONDENCE FROM A MEMBER OF THE PUBLIC 

1. SUMMARY OF ISSUES 

1. A member of the public has written to the Committee with regard to an incident in which she 

claims to have been verbally and physically abused by NET staff who were undertaking a 

revenue check at a tramstop.  She claims that she was incorrectly accused of avoiding the 

inspectors and of not having a valid ticket and has asked that the matter is fully investigated. 

2. RECOMMENDATION 

2.1    The views of the Committee are sought. 

3. DETAILS OF THE COMPLAINT 

3.1 A member of the public has written to the Committee following an incident that occurred at 

Trent University Tramstop on 8th July 2022.  The complainant, who regularly commutes on the 

tram from The Forest, and who was returning to her car, alighted on this occasion at Trent 

University because she had received an urgent phone call about a family member who had 

been rushed to hospital.  
 

3.2 She initially turned right when alighting from the tram, but then realized that she needed to turn 

left to buy a facemask from a shop, to enable her to visit the QMC.   A revenue inspection 

exercise was being undertaken at the tramstop at the time and she claims that an inspector 

accused her of trying to avoid being apprehended for not having a valid ticket.  She then claims 

that the inspector became aggressive and physically blocked her way, leading to her feeling 

scared, threatened and vulnerable.  She claims that she had a valid paper ticket for the journey 

but didn’t show it to the inspectors because of being verbally and physically abused. 

 
3.3 The complainant walked away from the platform and decided to drive to the hospital because 

of being frightened  and upset.  The exchange of correspondence between the complainant 

and NET can be found at Appendix A, with annotations made by the complainant. 

 
4. RESPONSE OF NOTTINGHAM TRAMS 

 
3.4 Nottingham Trams have carried out a full review of the incident using CCTV camera footage 

captured at the platform.  They have been unable to see any evidence to suggest that the 

complainant was abused by the inspectors and consider that their staff acted appropriately.  

They have questioned the reasons for her refusing to show her ticket and of then walking away.  

Nottingham Trams’ report of their investigation into the incident can be found at Appendix 2. 

 

Andy Holdstock, NET Project, Nottingham City Council 

Page 17

Agenda Item 7a



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 19



Page 20

aholds
Highlight

aholds_1
Highlight



Page 21



Page 22



Page 23



Page 24

aholds_2
Highlight



Page 25



Page 26



Page 27



Page 28



Page 29



Page 30



Page 31



Page 32

aholds_3
Highlight



Page 33



Page 34

aholds_4
Highlight



Page 35



Page 36



APPENDIX B 

GNLRTAC Report Ref Complaint Staff behaviour 

Summary 
On Friday 8th July, the customer service team received a complaint from a customer relating to an 

alleged incident at Trent University Tram stop where she was approached by uniformed NET Staff 

who requested proof of her payment for travel. She claimed that NET staff became aggressive with 

her, leaving her feeling threatened and vulnerable and demanded an investigation. She further 

stated that she has used the tram service for over ten years and never had any previous issues or 

been issued with a fixed penalty. On receipt of the complaint an initial investigation was carried out 

which found there was no evidence to support the allegations. This was communicated with the 

complainant who then demanded a further investigation. Following a review of the available 

evidence, senior managers concluded that members of the NET team had acted appropriately while 

conducting their duties. 

Details of incident  
This incident occurred on Friday 8th July ay Trent University Tram Stop with the customer 

disembarking a northbound tram approximately 1706. 

There are two Tram stop CCTV cameras at this location, situated at the south end of both platforms 

facing north. Shown below is the default setting view of a still image from the evening, with the tram 

arriving in the northbound platform.  

 

The camera on the southbound platform does not capture any footage of this event. 

As can be seen from the still image, the NET Customer Experience Team were carrying out a 

Revenue operation to detect and prevent fare evasion at the Trent University Stop. There were 8 

members of the team including a supervisor, with a mix of male and female staff. This was a busy 

time of day with lots of members of public around, both on board and on tram stop. 

Page 37



 

During this operation the team divides the work with some team members checking staff on board 

and some team members waiting on the platform to check any travellers disembarking at the stop 

for proof of purchase for their journey. Those without a valid ticket for their journey are issued a 

penalty fare notice. 

Below a further still is shown with the complainant circled in red. She walks towards the north end 

of the platform. It can be seen she appears to be on the phone as she highlights in her complaint. 

 

As she gets to the north end of the platform NET staff are asking to see all tickets and passes, which 

may have been perceived as a shout to get peoples’ attention and to be prepared to show their 

tickets. 

The complainant then changes direction heading to the south. 

Page 38



 

As shown in green a member of the NET team attempts to gain the attention of complainant to 

request their ticket. He appears to be ignored at this time. He later reports she had not spoken to 

him at this point and he then tries to alert other members of the team to the person appearing to 

avoid showing their ticket. 

At 17:06 :45 the complainant is no longer visible on the tram stop CCTV, 30 seconds after 

disembarking. 

There is then an exchange between NET Staff and the complainant, and a member of the NET team 

did stand in front of her to gain her attention after she ignored repeated requests to show her ticket. 

However, the NET team member states they were 2 feet apart and he denies touching the 

complainant. Other members of the NET team also state he stood in front of her but did not see any 

physical contact. During this exchange the complainant is again asked to show her ticket. In response 

the complainant says she did not have to show her ticket on a platform. It is reported by staff 

members that the complainant threated to have anyone who touched her arrested.  

This is an open network and quite an open area for someone to just walk away and, at this point the 

complainant walks away to the south, with the next tram arriving at 1708 staff return to the 

platform to check the next tram customers. 

At no point does the complainant show a valid ticket and she has since repeatedly declined to show 

any proof that payment had been made for her journey. 

 

 

 

Page 39



Details of the Investigation 
Following the event, the complainant makes initial contact with NET using our chatbot function 

which is a computer response generated response that can take key details at busy times to enable 

the Customer Services team to get in touch afterwards.  

These allegations were investigated at the time by the team and the complainant was informed of 

those findings.  

On receipt of further complaints on the handling of the initial investigation and its conclusions , 

NET’s Head of Operations reviewed the evidence available, including; Tram strop CCTV footage, staff 

statements and Freshdesk communications with the complainant.  

Note:  

 Body Cam footage was not used as the interaction was not deemed aggressive on behalf of 

NET Staff.  

 On Board tram footage was not obtained as it would not have captured any interaction 

 

Conclusions 
Although the complainant refused to show a valid ticket, no penalty fare was issued. 

Despite extensive investigations there is no evidence to suggest that the complainant was touched 

by a member of the NET team. However, a staff member has been reminded not to stand in peoples’ 

way to avoid anyone pushing into them. 

It has also been confirmed that the complainant was not singled out during this operation as it 

targeted all customers. 

NET fully acknowledge the complainant may have been distracted by an important phone call, 

however, NET reserve the right to request any customer travelling on the Network for a valid ticket 

for their travel.  

 

 

End. 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 40



Greater Nottingham Light Rapid Transit Advisory Committee 
Work Plan 2022/23 

 
Recurring Agenda Items 
 

Agenda Item Lead Officer 

NET Operational Performance and 
Progress Report 
 

Trevor Stocker (Nottingham Trams) 

Tramlink Update 
 

Andrew Conroy (Tramlink Nottingham) 

Issues raised by Committee Members 
and Citizens 

Andy Holdstock (Nottingham City 
Council NET Team) 
 
Committee Members: please notify the 
NET Team 
(net.admin@nottinghamcity.gov.uk) of 
any cases as soon as possible, to 
enable Nottingham Trams enough time 
to investigate fully and provide an 
appropriate response to the committee. 
 

Work Plan 
 

Catherine Ziane-Pryor 
(Nottingham City Council)  
as advised by lead officers 

 

Meeting Date 
 

Agenda Item Lead Officer 

13 December 2022 
2:00pm 

 

Accessibility (TBC)   

14 March 2022 
2:00pm 

 

Customer Survey Results Andy Conroy  
(Tram Link)  

 
 
 
 
 

Page 41

Agenda Item 8

mailto:net.admin@nottinghamcity.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 43

Agenda Item 10
By virtue of paragraph(s) 1, 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Minutes
	4 NET Operational Performance and Progress Update
	5 Safeguarding on the Network Annual Review 2022
	7a Correspondence from a citizen
	4 GNLRT AC Correspondence from MoP Appendix A
	4 GNLRT AC Correspondence from MoP Appendix B

	8 Work Plan 2022/23
	10 Exempt minutes

